
June 3, 2008 
 
FedEx Corporation 
942 S. Shady Grove Road 
Memphis, TN 38120 
 
Dear Sir or Madam: 
 
Sometime in the next few weeks, the Project On Government Oversight (POGO) 
will update its Federal Contractor Misconduct Database 
(http://www.contractormisconduct.org/), a compilation of information from public 
resources regarding government contractors, including FedEx. On January 24, 2006 
and November 15, 2006, we sent FedEx information regarding findings in POGO’s 
database. As of today, we have not received a response from you. I have enclosed 
the findings relevant to your company, and I am seeking verification of this data.  
 
Any response would be greatly appreciated, as the accuracy of this information is 
in the best interest of all parties. Out of fairness to FedEx, please be assured that 
any response received by POGO will be posted on the website along with the data. 
 
The biggest change we will be making to the database is the inclusion of more 
federal contractors (the top 100). We are also adding new instances that we have 
found in recent months and updating instances already in the database with new 
information. Please note that the database also includes pending instances, but these 
are kept separate from resolved instances and are not included in the totals. 
 
If you have any questions, I can be reached at (202) 347-1122. Thank you for your 
time and consideration. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Neil Gordon 
Investigator 
 
Enclosure 



Instances 
 
1. Department of Transportation v. FedEx Corporation (Violations of Hazardous Materials 
Regulations) 
Date:  03/01/2003 (Date of Fine) 
Misconduct Type:  Health 
Enforcement Agency:  Transportation 
Contracting Party:  None 
Court Type:  Administrative 
Amount:  $9,000 
Disposition:  Fine 
Synopsis:  FedEx Express Corporation was fined $9,000 in 2003 for violating the Hazardous 
Materials Regulations by placing radioactive material that was improperly packaged on an air 
carrier. The corporation then failed to notify the Department of Transportation within 30 days of 
a hazardous materials incident. 
 
2. Violations of Hazardous Materials Regulations 
Date:  01/01/2003 (Date of Report) 
Misconduct Type:  Health 
Enforcement Agency:  Transportation 
Contracting Party:  Non-Governmental 
Court Type:  Administrative 
Amount:  $8,400 
Disposition:  Fine 
Synopsis:  The Department of Transportation fined FedEx Ground Package System, Ltd. $8,400 
for violating the Hazardous Materials Regulations. The company transported a solid of sodium 
hydroxide in non-standard packaging. 
 
3. EEOC v. American Freightways/FedEx Freight East (Racial Discrimination) 
Date:  10/24/2005 (Date of Settlement) 
Misconduct Type:  Labor 
Enforcement Agency:  EEOC 
Contracting Party:  None 
Court Type:  Civil 
Amount:  $500,000 
Disposition:  Settlement 
Synopsis:  FedEx Freight East settled a case in which they were charged with allegedly 
preventing 20 African American employees from being promoted based on their race. The 
settlement amount was for $500,000 in the form of monetary relief. FedEx is also required to 
report promotions after the settlement date. FedEx allegedly violated Title VII of the Civil Rights 
Act of 1964. 
 
4. Shubert v. Federal Express Corporation (Breach of Contract) 
Date:  06/30/1999 (Date of Settlement) 
Misconduct Type:  Cost/Labor Mischarge 
Enforcement Agency:  Non-Governmental 
Contracting Party:  Non-Governmental 



Court Type:  Civil 
Amount:  Undisclosed 
Disposition:  Settlement 
Synopsis:  From 1996-1997, FedEx imposed a 2% fuel surcharge that was not dictated in their 
Service Guide. After one failed attempt to state a cause of action, the plaintiff succeeded in 
finding a cause of action under a charge of breach of contract. FedEx Corporation settled for an 
undisclosed refund in the form of coupons. The Illinois State Court found that there was 
sufficient evidence for a cause of action based on the tort of a breach of contract. 
 
5. Racial Discrimination and Harassment 
Date:  03/23/2007  
Misconduct Type:  Labor 
Enforcement Agency:  Non-Governmental 
Contracting Party:  None 
Court Type:  Civil 
Amount:  $12,400,000 
Disposition:  Judgment Against Defendant 
Synopsis:  In June 2006, a jury in Alameda County, California awarded $61 million to two 
FedEx drivers of Lebanese descent who claimed a manager racially harassed them for two years. 
The jury awarded them $50 million in punitive damages and $11 million in compensatory 
damages. In September, however, the judge deemed the verdict excessive and reduced the award 
to $12.4 million. "The harassment was mostly just offensive name-calling," Judge Stephen 
Dombrink noted in his ruling. 
 
6. Violations of the Americans with Disabilities Act 
Date:  03/02/2006 (Date of Jury Verdict) 
Misconduct Type:  Labor 
Enforcement Agency:  EEOC 
Contracting Party:  None 
Court Type:  Civil 
Amount:  $108,000 
Disposition:  Judgment Against Defendant 
Synopsis:  On March 2, 2006, a federal jury "found in favor of the U.S. Equal Employment 
Opportunity Commission (EEOC) in its employment discrimination lawsuit against Federal 
Express Corporation (FedEx) for violating the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 USC 
§12101, et. seq.). EEOC had charged the Memphis, Tenn.-based global shipping giant with 
failing to provide a reasonable accommodation to Ronald Lockhart, a profoundly deaf employee 
who worked as a package handler at the company's Baltimore Ramp. The suit charged Federal 
Express with violating the ADA when it failed to provide reasonable accommodations to 
Lockhart in the form of American Sign Language interpreters, despite his repeated requests. The 
jury found FedEx liable for punitive damages in the amount of $100,000 for its knowing failure 
to accommodate Lockhart as well as compensatory damages of $8,000 for the loss of the 
accommodation itself." In January 2008, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit 
affirmed the jury’s award. 
 
7. Workplace Discrimination (Retaliation and Constructive Termination) 
Date:  12/22/2004 (Date of Verdict) 



Misconduct Type:  Labor 
Enforcement Agency:  Non-Governmental 
Contracting Party:  None 
Court Type:  Civil 
Amount:  $1,570,000 
Disposition:  Judgment Against Defendant 
Synopsis:  On December 22, 2004, a jury returned a $1.57 million verdict in favor of a former 
FedEx employee who sued the company for retaliation and constructive termination. The jury 
awarded him $201,000 in back pay and $1,370,000 in compensatory damages for emotional pain 
and distress. The employee, who is white, sought to promote an African American and a 
Hispanic to supervisory positions but was rebuffed and retaliated against by a corporate 
management official. 
 
8. Failure to Accommodate Employees' Religious Beliefs and Practices 
Date:  12/30/2005 (Date of Settlement) 
Misconduct Type:  Labor 
Enforcement Agency:  State/Local 
Contracting Party:  None 
Court Type:  Civil 
Amount:  $0 
Disposition:  Settlement 
Synopsis:  On December 30, 2005, the New York State Attorney General's office announced "the 
settlement of a case against the Federal Express Corporation (Fed Ex Express) concerning the 
company’s accommodation of the religious beliefs and practices of several individuals employed 
as couriers in New York City." The investigation began in 2001 by former FedEx employees 
who were terminated because of their refusal to cut their hair, which was worn in dreadlocks in 
accordance with religious beliefs. Under terms of the settlement, FedEx will modify its Personal 
Appearance Policy. 
 
9. Boswell v. FedEx (Sexual Harassment) 
Date:  04/11/2007 (Date of Verdict) 
Misconduct Type:  Labor 
Enforcement Agency:  Non-Governmental 
Contracting Party:  None 
Court Type:  Civil 
Amount:  $3,000,000 
Disposition:  Judgment Against Defendant 
Synopsis:  In April 2007, a federal jury in San Francisco awarded $3 million in a sexual 
harassment and retaliation lawsuit against FedEx. Charlotte Boswell, a former dispatcher at a 
FedEx facility in Oakland, claimed that her supervisor sexually harassed her and, when she 
rejected his advances, changed her work hours in retaliation. The jury awarded Boswell 
$300,000 for lost earnings, $250,000 for emotional pain and suffering and $2,450,000 in punitive 
damages. 
 
10. Satchell, et al. v. FedEx (Racial Discrimination) 
Date:  04/13/2007 (Date of Settlement) 
Misconduct Type:  Labor 



Enforcement Agency:  Non-Governmental 
Contracting Party:  None 
Court Type:  Civil 
Amount:  $69,850,000 
Disposition:  Settlement 
Synopsis:  In April 2007, a FedEx subsidiary settled a racial discrimination lawsuit for nearly 
$55 million, plus an additional $15 million in attorneys' fees. The class action lawsuit alleged 
that FedEx Express discriminated against its African-American and Hispanic workers by 
denying them promotions, treating them unfairly in evaluation and disciplinary proceedings, and 
paying them less than white employees. The settlement affects 20,000 African-American and 
Hispanic employees who work or have worked in FedEx’s western U.S. region – California, 
Washington, Utah and Hawaii – since October 1999. The settlement received final approval in 
August 2007. 
 
11. Violation of FCC Rules 
Date:  05/02/2007 (Date of Forfeiture Order) 
Misconduct Type:  Other 
Enforcement Agency:  FCC 
Contracting Party:  None 
Court Type:  Administrative 
Amount:  $4,000 
Disposition:  Fine 
Synopsis:  The Federal Communications Commission fined FedEx $4,000 for willful and 
repeated violation of FCC rules at their Bloomington, California distribution center in June 2006 
by operating at an unauthorized radio frequency. FedEx's transmissions interfered with the local 
police department's dispatching signals. 
 
12. Estrada v. FedEx Ground (Misclassifying Employees) 
Date:  01/27/2006 (Date of Final Judgment) 
Misconduct Type:  Labor 
Enforcement Agency:  Non-Governmental 
Contracting Party:  None 
Court Type:  Civil 
Amount:  $17,600,000 
Disposition:  Judgment Against Defendant 
Synopsis:  A class-action lawsuit was filed in Los Angeles County Superior Court in 1999 
alleging that single-route FedEx Ground delivery drivers were wrongly classified as independent 
contractors and were unfairly required to foot the bill for millions in operating expenses, 
including the cost of uniforms, fuel and maintenance for their delivery trucks, and insurance. In 
December 2005, the court ruled that FedEx exercised pervasive control over the drivers and their 
working conditions. The court found that the company had engaged in unfair business practices 
and awarded the plaintiffs $5.3 million in damages and an additional $12.3 million in attorneys’ 
fees and costs. See related FedEx pending instance, “Nationwide Class-Action Lawsuit 
(Misclassifying Employees).” 
 
13. Harassing and Firing Workers Engaging in Union Activity 
Date:  10/12/2007 (Date of Settlement) 



Misconduct Type:  Labor 
Enforcement Agency:  NLRB 
Contracting Party:  None 
Court Type:  Civil 
Amount:  $253,000 
Disposition:  Settlement 
Synopsis:  FedEx Home Delivery and the National Labor Relations Board reached an agreement 
awarding $253,000 to five present and former drivers in Northboro, Massachusetts who claimed 
FedEx harassed and/or fired them for engaging in a union organizing effort with the Teamsters. 
The NLRB brought the complaint in June 2007 after determining the workers were company 
employees, not independent contractors, and were eligible to unionize. 
 
14. Misclassifying Workers – Massachusetts Citations 
Date:  12/19/2007 (Date of Citations) 
Misconduct Type:  Labor 
Enforcement Agency:  State/Local 
Contracting Party:  None 
Court Type:  Administrative 
Amount:  $190,500 
Disposition:  Fine 
Synopsis:  The Massachusetts Attorney General’s Office cited FedEx Ground Package System, 
Inc. for intentionally misclassifying 13 drivers as independent contractors rather than as 
employees, failing to provide a proper paystub, failing to provide workers’ compensation, not 
paying overtime, and neglecting to deduct and withhold state income taxes. In addition to 
assessing monetary penalties, the citations require FedEx Ground to rectify the violations and 
provide restitution to the drivers. The Attorney General’s investigation into FedEx Ground is 
ongoing. 
 
15. Price v. Federal Express (Retaliation) 
Date:  01/31/2008 (Date of Verdict) 
Misconduct Type:  Labor 
Enforcement Agency:  Non-Governmental 
Contracting Party:  None 
Court Type:  Civil 
Amount:  $2,850,000 
Disposition:  Judgment Against Defendant 
Synopsis:  A federal jury in Houston awarded former FedEx employee Derosher Price $2.85 
million after finding FedEx retaliated against him for filing a race discrimination lawsuit. Price 
unsuccessfully sued the company for race discrimination in 1999. After filing his lawsuit, Price 
— who is African-American — claimed he was denied a promotion and subject to “other forms 
of general harassment.” 
 
16. Violation of DOT Hazardous Materials Regulations 
Date:  08/02/2000 (Date of Announcement) 
Misconduct Type:  Environment 
Enforcement Agency:  Transportation 
Contracting Party:  None 



Court Type:  Administrative 
Amount:  $165,000 
Disposition:  Fine 
Synopsis:  The Federal Aviation Administration proposed a $165,000 civil penalty against 
Federal Express Corp. for allegedly violating Department of Transportation hazardous materials 
regulations. “FAA alleges that the FedEx improperly shipped a fiberboard box containing a 
chemical oxygen generator on a FedEx cargo flight from Los Angeles to the company's package 
sorting facility in Memphis where employees discovered the shipment. FedEx offered the 
shipment for transportation when it was not packaged, labeled, marked, classed, described, 
documented, or in condition for shipment as required by regulations. FedEx also failed to ensure 
employees were trained to properly package and handle hazardous materials, and did not make 
available at all times the required emergency response information.” 
 
 
Pending Instances 
 
Nationwide Class-Action Lawsuit (Misclassifying Employees) 
Date:  02/27/2007 (Date of Press Release) 
Misconduct Type:  Labor 
Enforcement Agency:  Non-Governmental 
Contracting Party:  None 
Court Type:  Civil 
Amount:  $0 
Disposition:  Pending 
Synopsis:  FedEx Ground/Home Delivery drivers in Nevada became part of the growing 
nationwide class-action lawsuit alleging the company intentionally misclassified employees as 
independent contractors to substantially reduce operating costs while boosting corporate profits. 
This particular suit also includes a count alleging violations of Nevada's False Claims Act 
provisions requiring accurate tax returns. The federal class-action lawsuit is pending in U.S. 
District Court in South Bend, Indiana. See related FedEx instance, "Estrada v. FedEx Ground 
(Misclassifying Employees)." 
 
Workplace Discrimination (National Origin) 
Date:  03/05/2007 (Date of Announcement) 
Misconduct Type:  Labor 
Enforcement Agency:  Non-Governmental 
Contracting Party:  None 
Court Type:  Civil 
Amount:  $0 
Disposition:  Pending 
Synopsis:  The Massachusetts Commission Against Discrimination ruled that complaints by four 
Arab-American employees that they were harassed by managers at FedEx Corp. may proceed. In 
addition to verbal abuse, the men, truck drivers who worked at the same Wilmington, 
Massachusetts location, claimed that they were treated unfairly in their work assignments. All 
four cases were removed to Suffolk County Superior Court in June 2007. 
 
Holowecki v. Federal Express Corp. (Age Discrimination) 



Date:  03/08/2006 (Date of Appellate Opinion) 
Misconduct Type:  Labor 
Enforcement Agency:  Non-Governmental 
Contracting Party:  None 
Court Type:  Civil 
Amount:  $0 
Disposition:  Pending 
Synopsis:  A group of 14 employees sued FedEx for age discrimination in April 2002. The New 
York federal court ruled the plaintiffs failed to follow proper procedure for bringing their claim 
and dismissed the suit. In March 2006, the U.S. Second Circuit Court of Appeals reversed the 
lower court. FedEx filed an appeal with the U.S. Supreme Court, which affirmed the Court of 
Appeals in February 2008. 
 
Misclassifying Workers – IRS Fine 
Date:  12/21/2007 (Date of SEC Form 10-Q) 
Misconduct Type:  Tax 
Enforcement Agency:  Treasury – IRS 
Contracting Party:  None 
Court Type:  Administrative 
Amount:  $0 
Disposition:  Pending 
Synopsis:  FedEx announced in a December 2007 SEC filing that the Internal Revenue Service 
concluded an audit for the 2002 calendar year and determined that FedEx Ground misclassified 
workers as independent contractors, and that the IRS anticipated assessing $319 million in fines 
and penalties. Similar issues are under audit by the IRS for calendar years 2004 through 2006. 
Although FedEx disputes the government’s findings and plans to meet with the IRS to review the 
tentative assessment, analysts predict FedEx could ultimately be hit with a tax liability exceeding 
$1 billion. 
 
Plumbers and Pipefitters Local 51 Pension Fund Lawsuit 
Date:  05/08/2008 (Date of Filing) 
Misconduct Type:  Securities 
Enforcement Agency:  Non-Governmental 
Contracting Party:  None 
Court Type:  Civil 
Amount:  $0 
Disposition:  Pending 
Synopsis:  A lawsuit filed on behalf of the Plumbers and Pipefitters Local 51 Pension Fund, 
which holds shares in FedEx, claims the company's classification of drivers as independent 
contractors constitutes gross mismanagement and a breach of fiduciary duty in that it has allowed 
the company's board of directors to enrich themselves while exposing the company to hundreds 
of millions of dollars in legal expenses, penalties and damages. 
 


